
Shropshire Council
Legal and Democratic Services
Shirehall
Abbey Foregate
Shrewsbury
SY2 6ND

Date:   Wednesday, 21 February 2018
:

Committee: 
People Overview Committee

Date: Thursday, 1 March 2018
Time: 10.00 am
Venue: Shrewsbury Room, Shirehall, Abbey Foregate, Shrewsbury, Shropshire, SY2 

6ND

You are requested to attend the above meeting. 
The Agenda is attached

Claire Porter
Head of Legal and Democratic Services (Monitoring Officer)

Members of the Committee

Peggy Mullock (Chair)
Ed Potter (Vice-Chair)
Nigel Hartin
Christian Lea
Matt Lee

Elliott Lynch
Cecilia Motley
Kevin Pardy
John Price
Kevin Turley

Co-opted Members (Voting):

Carol Morgan Diocese of Shrewsbury (RC)
Sian Lines Diocese of Hereford (CE)
Vacancy Parent Governor – Secondary Schools
Vacancy Parent Governor – Primary & Special Schools

Co-opted Members (Non-Voting):

Mark Hignett Voluntary and Community Sector 
Assembly



Substitute Members:
Roy Aldcroft
Dean Carroll
Julian Dean
Hannah Fraser
Rob Gittins

Roger Hughes
Jane MacKenzie
Claire Wild
Paul Wynn

Your Committee Officer is: 

Tim Ward  Committee Officer
Tel:  01743 257713
Email:  tim.ward@shropshire.gov.uk



AGENDA
1 Apologies and Substitutions 

To receive apologies for absence from Members of the Committee

2 Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

Members are reminded they must not participate in the discussion or vote on 
any matter in which they have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest and should leave 
the room prior to the commencement of the debate.

3 Minutes (Pages 1 - 4)

The minutes of the last meeting, held on 29 November 2017, are attached for 
confirmation.

4 Public Question Time 

To receive any public questions or petitions from the public, notice of which has 
been given in accordance with Procedure Rule 14.  The deadline for this 
meeting is 10.00am on 28 February 2018

5 Members' Question Time 

To receive any questions of which Members of the Council have given notice.

Deadline for notification: 10.00am on 28 February 2018

6 Ofsted Action Plan (Pages 5 - 28)

The report of the Director of Children’s Services is attached 

7 Ensuring sufficient placements for looked after children 

To receive a presentation

8 Date of Next meeting 

Members are reminded that the next scheduled meeting of the People Overview 
Committee will be held on Wednesday 14 March 2018 at 10.00am





PEOPLE OVERVIEW COMMITTEE

Minutes of the meeting held on 29 November 2017
10.00 am - 12.15 pm in the Shrewsbury Room, Shirehall, Abbey Foregate, 
Shrewsbury, Shropshire, SY2 6ND

Responsible Officer:    Tim Ward
Email:  tim.ward@shropshire.gov.uk      Tel:  01743 257713

Present 
Shropshire Councillors
Councillor Peggy Mullock (Chairman)
Councillors Ed Potter (Vice-Chair), Nigel Hartin, Christian Lea, Cecilia Motley, 
Kevin Pardy, Price and Kevin Turley

11 Apologies and Substitutions 

11.1 Apologies for absence were received from Sian Lines (Diocese of Hereford)

12 Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

12.1 There were no declarations of pecuniary interest

13 Minutes 

13.1 The minutes of the meeting held on 29 September 2017 had been circulated

13.2 RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the People Overview Committee held on 29 September 2017 
be approved as a true record and signed by the Chairman

14 Public Question Time 

14.1 There were no questions from members of the public.

15 Members' Question Time 

15.1 There were no questions from Members

16 Early Help Working Group 

16.1 Member’s received the report of the Director of Children’s Services which set out 
proposal for the development of Early Help Family hubs and updated the 
Committee of the work of the working group which had helped develop the 
proposals.



Minutes of the People Overview Committee held on 29 November 2017

Contact: Tim Ward on 01743 257713 2

16.2 Councillor Potter, the Chair of the Working Group outlined the proposals which 
included the creation of Early Family Help Hubs which would bring multiagency 
multidisciplinary teams together to provide a joined up service, which would result in 
a saving of £875,000

16.3 A Member congratulated Officer and the Working Group on a detailed and through 
piece of work but expressed concern regarding the large area the Ludlow Hub 
would cover as it was difficult to deliver services in the more rural areas and there 
would be a need to ensure sufficient resources going forward to take account of 
this.

16.4 Members expressed concern that some Children’s Centres would close.  The Head 
of Early Help, Partnerships and Commissioning explained that it was proposed that 
the number of family hubs would reduce from 11 to 6 which would enable the 
delivery of a more joined up service. Members asked to be kept updated on the 
situation by way of regular briefings.

16.5  RESOLVED

That the People Overview Committee 

a) Approve the proposals for Early Help Hubs and the associated savings projected.
b) Note the timescale for delivery
c) Note the proposed consultation programme 
d) Approve the closure of some Children’s Centres 

17 Placements for Looked After Children (LAC) 

17.1 Members received a presentation from the Service Manager - Fostering and 
Adoption which gave an overview of Children’s Placement Services on which she 
updated the Committee on the number of Looked after Children (LAC) and the 
processes around the placing of LAC, the current pressures on the service and the 
key service priorities.

17.2 The Service Manager requested that the Committee establish a Task and Finish 
Group to look at the current challenges to the service and to look at solutions to 
enable the service to meet its key service priorities.

17.3 Members agreed that a time limited task and finish group be set up with a view to a 
report being brought to the March meeting of the Committee.

17.3 RESOLVED

That a Task and Finish Group be established to look at finding solutions to the 
current challenges to the services and in meeting the key service priorities.

18 Task and Finish Group - Corporate Parenting 



Minutes of the People Overview Committee held on 29 November 2017

Contact: Tim Ward on 01743 257713 3

18.1 Member’s received a report which set out proposed terms of reference for a task 
and finish group on Corporate Parenting.

18.2 The Scrutiny Officer advised Members that the objectives of the group were: -

 To examine how the Corporate Parenting Panel ensures that it understands 
the profile of looked-after children in the county, and the outcomes for 
looked-after children compared to their peers 

 To understand how the Council ensures that its officers and elected 
members understand their responsibilities as corporate parents.

 To scrutinise the structures in place to support looked-after children in 
Shropshire, in particular the Children in Care Council, Children’s Charter and 
Corporate Parenting Panel.

 To look at the effectiveness of Regulation 44 visits by corporate parents.
 To learn how looked after children and care leavers understand the support 

available from corporate parents.

18.3 RESOLVED

That the Corporate Parenting Task and Finish group be establish and the terms of 
reference be agreed. 

19 Child Sexual Exploitation 

19.1 Member’s received the report of the Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) Co-Ordinator 
and the Manager – COMPASS which gave an update on the current situation 
regarding child sexual exploitation (CSE) and missing in Shropshire.

19.2 Members were advised that currently there were 72 children in Shropshire identified 
as being at risk of CSE, with only 6% being male, although it was felt that the 
number of males at risk of CSE was under reported, and that all children at risk of 
CSE were tracked to ensure that the level of risk was being managed appropriately. 

19.3 In response to a query it was confirmed that training was provided for Bed and 
Breakfast and hotel owners and for taxi drivers a part of their licencing process. A 
Member asked if feedback was provided to the licencing department where there 
were concerns about a particular driver or company.  The CSE Co-Ordinator 
confirmed that a member of the licencing team sat on the CSE sub group and that 
where there were specific concerns these were raised directly with the licencing 
team.

19.4 A Member asked how the situation in Shropshire compared with neighbouring 
councils.  The Director of Children’s Services commented that it was difficult to 
compare as the context in each county was different.

19.5 A Member asked whether it would be possible to have regular updates.  This was 
agreed.

19.6 The Chairman thanked Officers for the report



Minutes of the People Overview Committee held on 29 November 2017

Contact: Tim Ward on 01743 257713 4

20 Ofsted 

20.1 Members received the report of the Director of Children’s Services which reported 
on the result of the recent Ofsted Inspection.

20.2 The Director of Children’s Services reminded Members that a team of 9 inspectors 
from Ofsted had spent four weeks in the Children’s Services directorate inspecting 
services for children in need of help and protection, children looked after and care 
leavers and that they had also undertaken a review of the effectiveness of the Local 
Safeguarding Children Board.  She advised the meeting that the report of the 
Inspectors had been received and that the overall judgement for Shropshire’s 
services for children in need of help and protection, children looked after and care 
leavers was “Good”.

20.3 The Portfolio Holder for Children and Young People congratulated the Director of 
Children’s Services and her team for the excellent results of the inspection which 
was a testament to all the work put in by officers.  The Chairman echoed these 
sentiments which were endorsed by all Members.

20.4 The Director of Children’s Services advised Members that the Council was required 
to draw up an action plan for the recommendations contained in the report and that 
this would be brought to the next meeting of the Committee.

20.5 RESOLVED:

 That Members note the contents to the report and congratulate the Director of Children’s 
Services and her team on the excellent results of the inspection.

 That Members agree that the action plan be brought to the next meeting of the Committee 

21 Date of Next Meeting 

21.1 Members were advised that the next meeting if the People Overview Committee 
would be held on Wednesday 31 January 2018 at 10.00am

Signed (Chairman)

Date: 



People Overview Committee

1 March 2018

10.00am

Item

6
Public

Action Plan following the Ofsted Inspection of services for 
children in need of help and protection, children looked after 
and care leavers. 

Responsible Officer Karen Bradshaw
e-mail: karen.bradshaw@shropshire.gov.uk Tel: 01743 254201  

1. Summary

1.1 This report sets out the action plan required by Ofsted in response to 
the Inspection of Services for Children in Need of Help and Protection, 
Children Looked After and Care Leavers in 2017.  A Review of the 
Effectiveness of the Local Safeguarding Children Board was also 
undertaken by Ofsted as part of the inspection, and the Safeguarding 
Board’s separate action plan will be tabled at the meeting.

2. Recommendations

2.1 That Scrutiny consider the attached action plan, and confirm that it 
adequately addresses the required improvements. 

REPORT

3.  Risk Assessment and Opportunities Appraisal

(NB this will include the following: Risk Management, Human Rights, 
Equalities, Community, Environmental consequences and other Consultation)

3.1 Ofsted inspects services provided to children in need of care and 
protection, looked after children and care leavers.  It provides 
information to the local authority about how they are performing in this 
regard, and identifies areas for improvement.  In responding to these 
identified areas for improvement, it will impact positively on the 
outcomes for some of our most vulnerable children and their families, 
improve their lived experience and life chances.

mailto:karen.bradshaw@shropshire.gov.uk


People Overview Committee 1 March 2018: Action Plan following the Ofsted Inspection of 
Services for children in need of help and protection, children looked after and care leavers

Please contact Karen Bradshaw on 01743 254201 2

4.  Financial Implications

4.1 Some of the responses will require financial injection, although this is 
largely on an “invest to save” basis. 

5.  Background

5.1 In September 2017 Shropshire Council’s services for children in need 
of help and protection, children looked after and care leavers were 
inspected by Ofsted.  The Council was rated as good overall, one of 
only three local authorities rated as good in the West Midlands, and 
placing Shropshire amongst the highest performing local authorities 
nationally.

5.2 A detailed report was provided by Ofsted which sets out the key 
findings of the inspection including overall strengths and areas for 
improvement.  The report contained a number of recommendations for 
improvement and the Council is required to provide Ofsted with an 
Action Plan which sets out our responses to these recommendations. 
Children’s Social Care has achieved significant progress over the last 
few years, and is keen to strive for even better outcomes for children 
and their families. 

5.3 The report has been circulated to all Members. 

List of Background Papers (This MUST be completed for all reports, but does 
not include items containing exempt or confidential information)
Ofsted report 4th November 2017 

Cabinet Member (Portfolio Holder)
Cllr Nick Bardsley 

Local Member
All Members

Appendices
Appendix 1 Draft Action Plan



1 | P a g e

SHROPSHIRE CHILDREN’S SERVICES
POST OFSTED ACTION PLAN  

Our journey of continuous improvement

‘All children and young people to be happy, healthy, and safe and reach their full potential, 
supported by their families, friends and the wider community’

February 2018 V6



2 | P a g e

Introduction

“Social workers in Shropshire are working hard to keep children safe. They work with other staff in health, education and the police services to make sure that 
children are listened to and, where children have concerns or are not being looked after properly, they try to make children’s lives better.” (Ofsted, November 2017)

“The recent inspection of Shropshire Children’s Services has recognized that services to children and their families are overall ‘Good’. We were pleased that 
the inspection recognized our improvement journey.  But we are not complacent.  The aim of this Post-Ofsted action plan is to further improve services and 
outcomes for children, young people and their families. In doing so, the action plan will address the findings made by Ofsted, clearly indicating how we will 
implement the 12 recommendations given following the Single Inspection Framework (SIF) in September 2017. 

Alongside this plan, we have a clear vision for work with children and families, which is underpinned by our 5 Practice Priorities. In our drive towards excellent 
services, we follow a cycle of improvement, continuously reviewing and testing our practice and oversight to ensure that we are making progress and creating 
actions to address our priority areas.”  Karen Bradshaw, Director of Children’s Services

““Ofsted determined in its Report last November that services to safeguard children in Shropshire are good.  That was a considerable achievement putting 
Shropshire in the top 30% of Local Authorities in England.  But more needs to be done to address those service areas where improvements are needed so that 
standards continue to rise. We cannot afford to be complacent.  This Action Plan shows where we want to go and how we plan to get there.” Councillor Nick 
Bardsley, Lead Member for Children’s Services

Governance and Accountability

Together with my senior management team we will take responsibility for the delivery of our plan. We will monitor improvements in performance and 
practice, measuring progress of our plan quarterly at our DCS Quality and Performance Meetings with Service Managers and through quarterly Performance 
and Quality Meetings with Team Managers. The People Scrutiny Committee will lead on the challenge of the delivery of our plan, scrutinising progress of the 
plan by way of a quarterly update. The strategies and plans that sit underneath this are monitored at appropriate Boards or other governance structures.  
Karen Bradshaw, Director of Children’s Services  



3 | P a g e

Our Vision, Priorities and Principles

Our vision: ‘All children and young people to be happy, healthy, and safe and reach their full potential, supported 
by their families, friends and the wider community’

Our 5 Priorities
What is important and what success will look like

 Plans and Planning
 Every child will have an up to date plan
 Plans will be under pinned by an assessment and will be outcome focused
 Children, young people and families will be clear about what is expected of them
 Clear contingency plans are in place
 Plans will be at the heart of our work with children and their families

 Management Oversight
 Managers will ensure evidence of regular management oversight and reflective supervision on all 

case files
 Workers will be supported and have access to good quality reflective support
 Workers will be able to access management support when needed
 Key decisions taken outside supervision will be recorded on the case file

 Assessments
 Social work assessments will be child focused and informed by the views of the child
 Assessments will contain robust analysis of risks and protective factors which inform plans for each 

child

 Core Groups
 Core Groups will take place regularly and will review and progress plans for children
 Each core group will review the child’s plans and will agree actions to be undertaken by parents 

and the core group
 Where insufficient progress has been made, this will be recognized and appropriate action agreed 

and taken
 Core Groups will use effective step down processes
 Minutes will be sent out to all professionals and parents following each core group meeting

 Visits
 Visits will be timely, purposeful and include work which creates change for families
 Children will be seen alone
 Children’s wishes and feelings will be clearly recorded.

Shropshire Council Mission 

To be an excellent organization working in 
partnership to protect the vulnerable, create 

economic growth and support communities to be 
resilient.

Senior Management Priorities: 

 Reduce Caseloads
 Ensure all workers are supported and there 

is robust management oversight on all cases. 
 Ensure that we are only working with and 

looking after those children that we need to.  
 Provide workers with the right tools to do the 

job – IT system, processes and systems and 
training.

Safeguarding Board Priorities: 

 Domestic Abuse 
 CSE and Missing
 Neglect



4 | P a g e

RECOMMENDATION 1:  
Ensure that a clear system is established to enhance management oversight of initial contacts, so as to avoid any delays and to 
monitor timeliness and effectiveness.
Summary from Ofsted Inspection: 

 Thresholds are well established and applied consistently, resulting in proportionate action to protect children. An effective and mostly timely 
response is provided when concerns for children are raised with the Compass service, which is where all enquiries are received about concerns for 
the welfare or protection of children and young people.

 Consent to share information is understood well and appropriately sought in the majority of cases seen by inspectors. 
 In a small number of cases, some delays occur when parental consent and/or more information is needed for lower-level concerns but has not been 

sought already by the referrer. The impact of this for children is that there is sometimes a delay in progressing a contact and in determining the 
threshold for a referral. 

 Inspectors saw evidence of appropriate management oversight and decision-making within the Compass team. 
 However, a clearer, more structured system would ensure tighter monitoring of any future delays for children and their families. 

Ref Actions Expected Impact/Outcome Impact 
Measure

Lead and
Timescale

Progress to date Progress 
RAG 

Impact 
RAG 

1.1 Guidance to be written and implemented 
for RAG/Traffic light system of initial 
decisions on contacts, which includes a 3 
and 5 day review.

Reduction of contacts taking more 
than 5 days.  
This will result in timely decisions 
being made on concern forms where 
consent or further information is 
required from the family or referrer.  

Audit 
Performance 
Information

Jeanette Hill 
08/01/2018

Piloted in December 
2017, Live on 
08/01/2018

1.2 Weekly audit of contacts by the service 
manager and review of Performance 
Information to monitor compliance with 
protocol and impact on timescales.   
Outcome of audits to feed into Quality 
Assurance Feedback for oversight and 
scrutiny.

Consistency of practice in relation to 
contacts within the service and no 
delay found in progressing contacts 
and determining threshold for 
referral. 

Audit 
Performance 
Information

Jeanette Hill 
To commence 
from 08/01/18

Compass Service 
Manager weekly audits 
are already embedded 
within the Quality 
Assurance Framework.

RECOMMENDATION 2: 



5 | P a g e

Ensure that all children have information added to their electronic records regardless of the level of concern, particularly for 
domestic abuse level one notifications, and that records completed by the emergency duty team are immediate.
Summary from Ofsted Inspection:
 Domestic abuse notifications are received and considered daily by the multi-agency domestic abuse triage meeting in the Compass service, consistently 

attended by a wide range of key partners.
 Recent changes to commissioning arrangements for health colleagues are designed to enable them to attend on a regular basis from November 2017, 

giving a more robust contribution to the decision-making to protect children.
 However, there is no recording on children’s files of lower-level concerns, where the child is not known to the local authority. This affects the local 

authority’s ability to provide a comprehensive chronology from the earliest concern and to inform future decision-making.
 The emergency duty team provides an effective out of office hours response, but children’s records are not always immediately updated. This means 

that up-to-date information is not available for staff if they need to make urgent decisions.
Ref Actions Expected Impact/Outcome Impact Measure Lead and

Timescale
Progress to date Progress 

RAG 
Impac
t RAG 

2.1 All domestic abuse Level 1 incidents to 
be recorded as an observation on 
children's files and duplicated across 
siblings. 

 Strengthened decision making for 
individual children and 
incorporation of history in all 
children's assessments. 

Audit Jeanette Hill 
01/02/2018

2.2 Workflow to be developed in Liquid 
Logic, which allows all notifications to 
be recorded. 

Comprehensive chronologies on 
children’s files identifying all 
incidents where children have 
experienced domestic abuse.

Audit Jeanette Hill 
05/11/2018

2.3 All case file records to be updated by the 
emergency duty team on children's case 
files before the completion of the shift. 

Case recording which is up-to-date 
and enables workers to make 
urgent decisions based on current 
information. 

Audit Fiona 
Adamson/Lindsey 
Huxtable
01/11/2017

RECOMMENDATION 3: 



6 | P a g e

Ensure that all brother and sister groups have a case record as a result of a contact received in the Compass service.
Summary from Ofsted Inspection:
 Thresholds are well established and applied consistently, resulting in proportionate action to protect children.
 An effective and mostly timely response is provided when concerns for children are raised with the Compass service, which is where all enquiries are 

received about concerns for the welfare or protection of children and young people. 
 While case recording was up to date, only information for the eldest child in a sibling group is recorded on concerns forms, so information about any 

younger brothers and sisters is not separately recorded or available for future reference on the electronic system.
Actions Expected Impact/Outcome Impact 

Measure
Lead and 
Timescale

Progress to date Progress 
RAG 

Impact 
RAG 

3.1 New concerns forms raised on cases 
which are not open, to be duplicated 
onto each child, and completed in 
Compass when authorising 

All concerns forms available on 
relevant children for future 
reference, enabling appropriate 
decision making, assessment and 
action. 

Audit
Performance 
Information

Jeanette Hill
01/03/2018

3.2 Concerns forms raised on open cases to 
be added by Compass who will 
duplicate the concerns forms and then 
assign to the relevant team for 
authorisation

All concerns forms available on 
relevant children for future 
reference, enabling appropriate 
decision making, assessment and 
action. 

Audit
Performance 
Information

Jeanette 
Hill/Steve 
Ladd/Elaine 
Storey
01/03/2018

3.3 On all new or closed cases Compass 
Coordinator role to add all household 
relationships and Compass staff (SSW, 
EHSW, TYS, CSE lead) will complete and 
duplicate including EH consultations as 
appropriate

Connections between family 
members clearly visible and included 
in decision making for families. 

Audit
Performance 
Information

Jeanette Hill 
01/03/2018

3.4 Ensuring all relevant Shropshire 
Council  procedures are updated to 
capture changes in operational 
practice

All workers will have a clear 
understanding of the processes, with 
clarity on role responsibilities.

Audit Siobhan Hughes
01/06/2018



7 | P a g e

RECOMMENDATION 4: 
Ensure that assessments for children looked after and their families are comprehensive and analytical, to effectively inform timely 
care plans and decision-making.
Summary from Ofsted Inspection:
 Children become looked after when they need to be, in a planned and mostly timely way, and in response to escalating risks. 
 Most assessments help to inform correct decision-making. 
 A small number of assessments do not always contain enough detail so that plans for children to be looked after are sufficiently purposeful and clear 

enough, particularly for young babies.  
 Most assessments (LAC), while undertaken regularly for reviews, are not sufficiently detailed in terms of considering all relevant information, critical 

evaluation and analysis, although a small number of excellent children’s assessments were seen by inspectors. 
 Management oversight does not systematically influence and improve the quality of assessments or care plans.
Ref Actions Expected Impact/Outcome Impact 

Measure
Lead and
Timescale

Progress to date Progress 
RAG 

Impac
t RAG 

4.1 Looked After Child Assessment 
workshops to be delivered, 
consolidating learning from Martin 
Calder training in the context of LAC.  
To be attended by all social workers.

Analytical assessments which 
appropriately assess the needs of 
the individual looked after children 
and identify need. 

Audit Elaine 
Storey/Lisa 

Preston/Donna 
Chapman 

01/05/2018
4.2 Action learning set to take place with 

team managers focusing on the Quality 
Assurance of assessments.

Quality Assurance activity 
undertaken by managers to be 
evident on the case file and clearly 
improving the quality of 
assessments. 

Audit Donna 
Chapman / 

Siobhan Hughes
01/05/2018

4.3 New assessment template for looked 
after children to be developed as part 
of Liquid Logic Implementation in 
consultation with social workers and 

A LAC assessment template which 
enables robust assessment and 
analysis.

Audit Siobhan 
Hughes 
04/11/2018



8 | P a g e

Ref Actions Expected Impact/Outcome Impact 
Measure

Lead and
Timescale

Progress to date Progress 
RAG 

Impac
t RAG 

team managers. 

4.4 All workers and managers to have 
access to Research in Practice to link 
theory and research to practice. 

LAC assessments will contain more 
evidence of relevant research and 
theory.

Audit Donna 
Chapman 
01/07/2018

4.5 Rag rating process to be revised to 
ensure that assessments for looked 
after children are comprehensive, 
timely and inform care plans and 
decisions for looked after children. 

The scrutiny of assessments by the 
IROs will be evident on case files and 
improvements will be seen in critical 
evaluation and analysis contained in 
future assessments. 

Audit
Performance 
Information

Siobhan 
Hughes/Lisa 
Kelly
01/05/2018

4.6 Child Journey Audit Tool to be amended 
to ensure that it reflects expectations in 
relation to assessment and planning for 
looked after children. 

The ability to review progress in this 
area and to ensure that we are 
providing social workers and Team 
managers with the right 
tools/knowledge to undertake 
robust assessments in respect of 
looked after children. 

Audit 
Review

Siobhan 
Hughes
01/03/2018

RECOMMENDATION 5:   
Ensure that all plans, including children in need plans, child protection plans, care plans and pathway plans, have clear overall 
objectives and timely specific actions.
Summary from Ofsted Inspection:

 In most cases, assessments lead to child-specific care plans. Children who are subject to child in need or child protection plans have their plans 
reviewed regularly. A robust and clear protocol for consideration of risks and concerns, or ‘step up’ or ‘step down’ arrangements, ensures that 
consideration is given at each review so that children are safe and receive the most appropriate intervention. 

 A small number of plans are too long. They contain generic or unrealistic actions with unclear timescales. The use of the terms ‘ongoing’ and ‘to be 
reviewed at core group’ does not assist families or professionals to understand the timescales in which change must occur for the child.



9 | P a g e

Ref Actions Expected Impact/Outcome Impact 
Measure

Lead and
Timescale

Progress to date Progress 
RAG 

Impact 
RAG 

5.1 Outcome focused planning workshop 
to take place with all IROs and CP 
Chairs, Team Managers, Social 
Workers, PA’s and Virtual School – 
delivered by Research In Practice 

 Outcome focused LAC 
plans to be created by 
social workers and given 
additional quality 
assurance by IROs. 

 Concise and SMART CP 
plans initiated by CP 
Chairs. 

 SMART PEPS’s to be in 
place for every school aged 
Looked after Child.

 All children to have an up 
to date plan which is 
progressing in line with 
their needs, with clear 
timescales  and which is 
outcome focused. 

Audit Siobhan 
Hughes/Donna 
Chapman 
01/04/2018

5.2 The virtual school will be part of 
induction training for all social workers 
with a focus on quality of PEPS’s.

 The Virtual Head will 
feedback data on PEP 
quality, to include number 
of social workers using 
PEP’s, PEP’s within 
timescales, student 
participation and SMART 
targets.

Audit, use of 
ePEP 
Dashboard data 
and QA by 
Virtual Head

Rose Hooper 
01/02/2018

5.3 Develop practice guidance on how to 
write a SMART outcome focused plan 

Social workers will have an easily 
accessible guide to writing an 

Audit Siobhan 
Hughes/Pippa 



10 | P a g e

including Do's, Don'ts, hints and tips. outcome focused plan, improving 
the quality of outcome focused 
plans.

Murphy 
01/04/2018

5.4 Revise plan templates as part of the 
Liquid Logic and consult children, 
young people and their families in this. 

All children's plans will be written 
in an outcome focused style, which 
families are able to understand. 

Review Siobhan 
Hughes/Lisa Kelly 
01/11/2018

5.5 Importance of data recording 
workshops to be held with 
practitioners by legal services. 

All workers will understand the 
importance of recording on 
children's files and recording will 
improve. 

Audit Donna Chapman 
01/07/2018

5.6 Principal Social Worker to undertake 
Pathway Plans with ASYEs, creating 
good examples of Pathway Plans. 

Workers will understand 
expectations for good quality 
Pathway Plans and ASYEs will 
develop skills to consistently create 
good pathway plans. 

Audit Siobhan Hughes 
01/10/2018

5.7 Pathway Planning workshop to take 
place with all relevant teams

Workers will have the skills to 
create high quality pathway plans 
and improvement shown in 
auditing. 

Audit Siobhan 
Hughes/Elaine 
Storey 
01/05/2018

5.8 Bi-annual themed audit of 25 plans to 
take place across children's services as 
part of the Quality Assurance 
Framework to ensure that they are 
SMART and outcome focused. 

Understanding of the quality of 
children's plans across children's 
services and individual feedback 
and support created for workers. 

Audit Siobhan Hughes 
30/07/2018

RECOMMENDATION 6:  
Ensure that effective management oversight and case supervision influence and ensure the achievement of children's plans.
Summary from Ofsted Inspection:
 Management oversight is clearly evident through regular and effective formal supervision.



11 | P a g e

 Most supervision records contain reflection on practice, with clear actions for social workers to progress. 
 However, the quality of these records in some of the case management teams is not as clear in terms of monitoring children’s plans and progressing to 

achieve outcomes effectively.
 Management oversight does not systematically influence and improve the quality of assessments or care plans. This results in delays to achieve actions 

that would improve outcomes for children.
Ref Action Expected Impact/Outcome Impact 

Measure
Lead and 
Timescale

Progress to date Progress 
RAG 

Impact 
RAG 

6.1 Monthly supervision folder audits to 
take place as part of the Quality 
Assurance Framework

Quality of supervision recorded to 
improve, shown by quarterly QAF 
reporting. 

Audit Siobhan Hughes
01/02/2018 

6.2 Implement the revised supervision 
policy, including observations of 
supervision.

Quality of supervision recorded 
and observed to improve, shown 
by quarterly QAF reporting. 

Audit Siobhan Hughes
01/03/2018

6.3 LAC planning checklist to be utilised as 
a tool for workers and managers in 
supervision. 

Thorough LAC planning and 
completion of actions to take place 
for every LAC child and young 
person in a timely way.

Audit Lisa Kelly/Pippa 
Murphy 
30/03/2018

6.4 Managers to undertake regular 
practice observations as part of the 
Quality Assurance Framework. 

Manager have an accurate picture 
of practice and supporting the 
development of this is evident in 
supervision. 

Audit Siobhan Hughes 
01/03/2018

6.5 Decision making and supervision action 
learning sets to take place for team 
managers. 

A consistent approach to decision-
making and supervision across 
teams shown by the QAF auditing 
schedule. 

Audit Siobhan Hughes 
01/04/2018

6.6 Team Managers to ensure that copies 
of children's plans are discussed in 
supervision. 

Plans for children clearly 
monitored and progressed by 
managers, shown by supervision 
recordings. 

Audit Siobhan 
Hughes/Steve 
Ladd/Elaine 
Storey 
01/04/2018 



12 | P a g e

Ref Action Expected Impact/Outcome Impact 
Measure

Lead and 
Timescale

Progress to date Progress 
RAG 

Impact 
RAG 

6.7 Core Group guidance and frequency to 
be revised, to reduce number of core 
groups taking place and increase 
quality. 

Managers having more opportunity 
for oversight of core groups and 
review of plans with reduced 
numbers. 

Audit 
Performance 
Information

Siobhan 
Hughes/Colleen 
Male 
26/02/2018

6.8 Reflective practice cards to be utilised 
through supervision to support 
workers to carry out planned and 
purposeful work. 

Clear reflection recorded in 
supervision. 

Audit Siobhan Hughes 
30/03/2018
 

6.9 All team managers without a 
management qualification to be 
offered this through the apprenticeship 
levy. 

Team managers enrolled on a 
management training course which 
enables them to become skilled 
and effective managers, who have 
a clear impact on practice. 

Review Donna 
Chapman
01/12/2017

RECOMMENDATION 7:   
Ensure that arrangements for permanence planning are robust and that permanence plans progress within the child's timescale, to 
avoid children experiencing delays.
Summary from Ofsted Inspection:

 The local authority recognises that more needs to be done so that children who are long-term fostered have their care confirmed by formal decision 
making about permanence, and so that any uncertainty that they may experience while waiting for a decision is minimised. 

 In a small number of cases, there was some drift and delay for children waiting to be found long term carers, and a greater focus on purposeful and 
targeted family finding is required.

 Services for children who need permanence, but for whom adoption is not appropriate, are not yet consistent enough.
  The service is developing a permanence tracker. This includes all children who have a permanence plan, with the aim of strengthening senior and 

team management oversight and the grip on permanence activity other than adoption
 Independent reviewing officers (IROs) regularly review care plans, and more robust and recent scrutiny is beginning to improve practice, particularly 

for permanence. 
 The independent reviewing service has recently established a red, amber and green (RAG) rating escalation process to introduce more robust 

scrutiny and to address less effective care planning. In most cases where concerns are escalated, this results in a positive impact for children. This 



13 | P a g e

escalation process is beginning to improve practice, particularly in relation to permanence planning for children who do not have an adoption care 
plan.

Ref Actions Expected Impact/Outcome Impact 
Measure

Lead and 
Timescale

Progress to date Progress 
RAG 

Impact 
RAG 

7.1 Permanence policy to be refreshed Permanency Policy will enable 
social workers and managers to 
understand the principles of 
permanency planning and how 
these apply to individual cases and 
all permanency planning will be 
timely. 

Audit Lisa Preston 
01/02/2018

Permanency Policy has 
been updated and 
shared with Team 
Managers 06/12/17

7.2 All Looked After Children to have a 
Permanency Plan following their 2nd 
Statutory Review

All Looked After Children to have a 
Permanency Plan following their 
2nd Statutory Review

Audit Lisa Kelly/ 
Siobhan Hughes
02/03/2018

7.3 All children moving into long term 
fostering to be formally matched with 
their long term foster carer.

All children moving into long term 
fostering will be in a placement 
suitable to their needs

Audit Lisa Preston 
01/02/2018

7.4 Permanence Strategy to be embedded. A clear vision and strategic 
approach across children's services 
to improve approach to 
permanency. 

Review Lisa Preston 
01/02/2018

Permanency Strategy 
has been drafted and is 
out for consultation. 

7.5 Implementation of the permanency 
tracker. 

Ensure that there is management 
oversight of all cases where 
permanency outside the birth 
family is required and to track and 
monitor the progression of the 
permanence plans, preventing 
delay. 

Audit Lisa Preston 
01/02/2018



14 | P a g e

Ref Actions Expected Impact/Outcome Impact 
Measure

Lead and 
Timescale

Progress to date Progress 
RAG 

Impact 
RAG 

7.6 Permanence Forum to go live Clear evidence that plans for 
permanency are expedited post 
LAC review.

Audit Lisa Preston 
15/01/2018

7.7 Lunchtime briefings ‘matching to long 
term fostering’ on CPR's and 
embedding the permanence agenda in 
the implementation of children's care 
plans. 

All relevant staff to have an 
understanding of the fundamentals 
of Permanency and able to create 
good quality CPRs.

Audit Lisa Preston 
01/04/2018

7.8 Review of the structure of CPS.  A clear focus on the permanency 
agenda and transference of good 
practice from adoption to long 
term fostering.

Audit Lisa Preston 
01/04/2018

 
7.9 Plans for permanence to be included in 

the Quality Assurance Framework 
auditing schedule. 

Understanding of the quality of 
children's plans for permanence 
and actions developed to 
continuously improve these. . 

Audit Siobhan Hughes 
/ Lisa Preston 
01/04/2018

RECOMMENDATION 8: 
Ensure that children who are looked after have assessed contact agreements with their families that are sufficiently detailed and 
ensure that contact supervisors are specifically trained in supervision.
Summary from Ofsted Inspection:

 While family contact for children is promoted and most children see their families, assessments do not evidence careful enough consideration of 
children’s contact needs.

 Most contact agreements seen by inspectors did not sufficiently set out the details of practical arrangements, the focus for the contact or its 
outcomes. 

 Contact supervisors are not specifically trained in supervision. 
 The local authority already had plans to review this service, but this had not happened by the time of the inspection.



15 | P a g e

Ref Action Expected Impact/Outcome Impact 
Measure

Lead and
Timescale

Progress to date Progress 
RAG 

Impact 
RAG 

8.1 Contact policy and procedures to be 
revised and embedded across 
children's services. 

Clear expectations and guidelines, 
which creates good practice in 
looked after children's contact.

Audit Elaine Storey 
01/04/2018

8.2 Templates for contact including 
assessment contact agreement to be 
revised and embedded. 

Contact agreements that are 
sufficiently detailed to enable good 
practice in supervised contact.

Audit Elaine Storey
01/04/2018 

8.3 Contact agreement to be reviewed at 
second LAC review as part of 
permanence planning.

The levels of contact provided to 
each individual child will reflect the 
child’s needs and care plan at that 
time.

Audit Elaine 
Storey/Steve 
Ladd 
01/03/2018

8.4 Children, young people and their 
families to be included in contact 
agreements and invited to initial and 
review meetings. 

Contact agreements, which include 
families and set out details of 
contact and expectations on all 
parties.

Audit Elaine Storey 
01/04/2018

8.5 Contact workers and all workers who 
regularly undertake contact to be 
trained in supervising and assessing 
contact. 

All workers undertaking contact to 
be able to carry out high quality 
contact and assessment and 
analysis of contact. 

Audit Siobhan 
Hughes/Elaine 
Storey 
01/06/2018

RECOMMENDATION 9: 
Improve children's engagement and participation and ensure that information shared and numbers of children participating in 
their child protection conferences are collated for future learning and service delivery.
Summary from Ofsted Inspection:

 Child protection conferences are timely. They are sensitively and effectively chaired and well attended, and they facilitate effective information 
sharing and engagement by partner agencies. Conference chairs use a red, amber and green (RAG) rating of practice following case conferences. 
This provides additional management oversight and feedback to social workers, and leads to improvements in practice.

 Arrangements for children to participate in their child protection case conferences are weak. 
 Some children are supported to contribute to their plans, or to attend their meetings, and a commissioned advocacy service is available. However, 



16 | P a g e

the local authority does not capture specific data or information around children’s participation in case conferences to inform future service delivery 
or learning.

Ref Action Expected Impact/Outcome Impact 
Measure

Lead and
Timescale

Progress to date Progress 
RAG 

Impac
t RAG 

9.1 Children and young people's 
participation in case conferences to be 
monitored on a monthly basis and broken 
down by team and worker to identify any 
barriers. 

More children and young people to 
participate in their Child Protection 
Conferences and their views to be 
collated and incorporated in Service 
User Feedback Reports. 

Performance 
Information
Audit

Lisa Kelly 
01/03/2018

9.2 The Service User impact project to ensure 
the prioritisation of young people's 
participation and consultation. 

Greater focus by all services on 
service user participation, ensuring 
that children's voices are collated 
and heard and utilised to improve 
service delivery and practice 
improvement. 

Performance 
Information
Review

Fran Doyle 
27/07/2017

9.3 Child Protection Conference style to be 
reviewed and revised to embed 
relationship based practice. 

A conference style which will 
encourage children and parent's 
engagement in child protection 
conferences. 

Performance 
Information
Review 
Service User 
Feedback

Lisa 
Kelly/Siobhan 
Hughes
01/05/2018

9.4 Hold conferences in schools (more 
community based venues that are child 
friendly)

Increased participation in case 
conferences by young people.

Performance 
Information
Service User 
Feedback

Lisa Kelly 
01/04/2018

9.5 Review all tools for gathering the views of 
service users prior to child protection 
conferences and utilisation of these to be 
reported at a team level. 

Increased understanding of service 
users views for conferences. 

Performance 
Information
Review 
Service User 
Feedback

Lisa Kelly 
01/04/2018

9.6 Discussions between chair and social Increased participation in case Performance Lisa Kelly/ 



17 | P a g e

Ref Action Expected Impact/Outcome Impact 
Measure

Lead and
Timescale

Progress to date Progress 
RAG 

Impac
t RAG 

worker ahead of the meeting to 
determine the level of the child or young 
person's participation in the conference 
to be recorded on the case files. 

conferences of young people and 
demonstrable consideration of their 
needs in being heard on case files. 

Information
Audit
Service User 
Feedback

Siobhan Hughes
01/03/2018

9.7 Explore potential for use of different 
multi-media to capture children's feelings 
in this process (discuss feedback of use 
on CDT)

Increased capturing of children and 
young people's views.

Performance 
Information
Service User 
Feedback

Fran Doyle 
01/03/2018

9.8 Increased drive on advocacy 
services/inclusion to support children 
(send advocacy, leaflets out with 
minutes) (have conversations with child 
on advocacy). 

Increased numbers of young people 
utilising advocacy. 

Performance 
Information

Lisa Kelly 
01/04/2018

9.9 Track the use of advocacy and ensure 
that reasons why young people do not 
want an advocate are recorded on the 
young person’s case file. 

Increased numbers of young people 
utilising advocacy and reasons why 
young people do not want advocacy 
clearly understood.  

Performance 
Information 
Audit 

Lisa 
Kelly/Siobhan 
Hughes 
01/03/2018

RECOMMENDATION 10:   
Ensure that care leavers have the opportunity to access apprenticeships to increase their opportunities for education, employment 
and training.
Summary from Ofsted Inspection:

 More care leavers are staying in education, employment or training immediately after they reach 18, but the proportion declines for older care 
leavers.

 The local authority has been slow to roll out an apprenticeship offer for care leavers, despite being a participant in the ‘New Beginnings’ initiative. At 
the time of the inspection, only one care leaver (now a graduate) was registered for an apprenticeship. The leaving care team has identified 14 care 
leavers who have the potential to be candidates for an apprenticeship. This is now being progressed at corporate parenting board level to ensure 
that the offer of apprenticeships is not subject to further drift.



18 | P a g e

Ref Actions Expected Impact/Outcome Impact 
Measure

Lead and
Timescale

Progress to date Progress 
RAG 

Impact 
RAG 

10.1 Establish a corporate commitment to 
providing Care Leavers with the 
opportunity to access apprenticeships 
across Shropshire Council.

 Suitable opportunities for Care 
Leavers across Shropshire Council. 

Review  Clive Wright
01/02/2018

10.2 Establish a cross Directorate 
apprenticeship group, chaired by the 
DCS to agree a clear process for the 
identification across the council of 
LAC apprenticeships. 

Increased numbers of LAC 
apprenticeships being offered to 
young people

Review Karen 
Bradshaw/Michelle 
Leith
01/02/2018

10.3 Representative of children's services 
to attend the monthly apprenticeship 
levy board meetings.

Increased opportunities for LAC 
young people to access 
apprenticeships. 

Review Donna Chapman 
01/02/2018

RECOMMENDATION 11:   
Improve the arrangements for preparing care leavers for independent living, ensuring that they have appropriate opportunities for 
participation and that they know what support they can expect under the Shropshire pledge.
Summary from Ofsted Inspection:

 The support provided to care leavers when they consider that they are ready to move into independent accommodation is not always effective 
enough to ensure that these moves are successful. The local authority has recognised the need to provide more advice and guidance to its care 
leavers, and recently opened a drop-in facility in early September 2017 in Shrewsbury. As this is so new, it is too early to see any impact or its 
effectiveness. Supported accommodation providers offer training whenever a young person is ready or expresses a wish to move on. In order to 
offer more support, a training flat to help to ensure that young people are as ready as they can be for full independence is being developed by the 
local authority, although it is not yet in place. 

 Care leavers do not have an active forum in which to celebrate their achievements or share their experiences with one another. They are aware of 
such opportunities for younger children in care, but do not consider these to be appropriate for them. 

 Despite the efforts by the local authority to circulate relevant information to them, care leavers met by inspectors had little awareness of their 
entitlements. The Shropshire local offer, or the ‘Pledge’, was approved by the corporate parenting panel in September 2017. However, the 
information provided to young people does not make clear the level of financial support that they can expect, for example to set up home, 
contribute to transport costs, use gym or sports facilities, or for related expenses if they are accepted for a place at university. 



19 | P a g e

RECOMMENDATION 12: 

Ensure that all homeless young people aged 16 and 17 years are offered appropriate accommodation.

Summary from Ofsted Inspection:
 Social workers undertake appropriate assessments for homeless 16- and 17year-olds.
 However, they are not always timely enough, meaning that, when suitable alternative accommodation is necessary, any decision that a young 

person should become looked after is not always considered as quickly as possible. 

Ref Actions Expected Impact/Outcome Impact 
Measure

Lead and
Timescale

Progress to date Progress 
RAG 

Impact 
RAG 

11.1 Develop Independence and life skills 
programme with all care providers 
that will deliver a consistent 
programme of independence for our 
care leavers.

Young people who are prepared for 
independence and are tenant ready.  

Audit Elaine Storey 
01/06/2018

11.2 Create a marketplace for providers of 
temporary accommodation to buy 
into the independence programme to 
ensure that they tenancy ready. 

Young people who are prepared for 
independence and able to access 
accommodation.

Audit Elaine Storey 
01/06/2018

11.3 Recruit and induct 2 new Care Leaving 
Ambassadors

Two Care Leaving Ambassadors to 
work alongside LA staff in improving 
services to Looked After Children 
and Care Leavers. 

Audit 
Service User 
Feedback

Fran Doyle/
Elaine Storey
01/06/2018

11.4 Care Leavers pledge to be revised to 
ensure that it is compliant with 
guidance and sets out clearly what 
Care Leavers can expect when they 
leave local authority care. 

Care Leavers are aware of their 
entitlements and what support is 
available to them.  

Review
Service User 
Feedback

Elaine Storey 
01/06/2018



20 | P a g e

 A small number of young people in the last year have been placed inappropriately in bed and breakfast accommodation until more permanent 
arrangements could be made.

Ref Actions Expected Impact/Outcome Impact 
Measure

Lead and
Timescale

Progress to date Progress 
RAG 

Impact 
RAG 

12.1 Continue to work closely with Housing 
Options to ensure that joint 
assessments are immediate and 
appropriate efforts are made to gain 
suitable accommodation

16 and 17 year old homeless young 
people are assessed in a timely way 
and are consistently placed in 
suitable accommodation.

Audit 
Performance 
Information

Jeanette Hill 
01/11/2017

12.2 Housing to employ a Children and 
Young Person’s Coordinator post on a 
two years fixed term contract. 

To work alongside Children’s 
Services and offer immediate 
support to homeless 16 & 17 year 
olds to enable them to return 
home, or to support young people 
who refuse Local Authority 
accommodation under S20 or who 
do not meet the threshold under 
the Southwark judgement with an 
overall aim of ensuring that all 
homeless 16/17 years either return 
to their family or are offered 
suitable accommodation.  No 
young person being placed with 
B&B accommodation. 

Data and audit 
information

Laura Fisher
01/06/2018

12.3 CPS to include available supported 
board and lodgings placements in 
placement information given to EDT. 

16 and 17 year old homeless young 
people are assessed in a timely way 
and are consistently placed in 
suitable accommodation. 

Audit 
Performance 
Information

Lisa Preston 
01/03/2018

12.4 Permission for any young person to Increased availability of Performance Lisa 



21 | P a g e

be placed in B&B to be sought from 
the Director of Children's Services or 
the on call manager out of hours. 

appropriate beds for 16 & 17 year 
olds 
Reduced use of B&B provision.

Information Preston/Fiona 
Adamson
15/01/2018

12.5 All options of accommodation offered 
to be clearly evidenced in 
observations, including if the young 
person has declined section 20 
accommodation and the reasons for 
this. 

Clearer evidence on case files that 
options have been considered for 
housing 16&17 year olds.

Audit Lisa 
Preston/Jeanette 
Hill 
01/04/2018

12.6 Development of a leaflet with options 
available for homeless 16/17 year old, 
produced jointly with housing 
services. This will include a form for 
young for young people to sign, 
showing that they have understood 
options given to them. 

Evidence that young people have 
been given options and understand 
these clear on case files. 

Jeanette 
Hill/Laura Fisher
01/04/2018

12.7 Strategic Working Group to be 
established to look at the availability 
of crash pads in the event of a crisis 
whilst assessments are undertaken. 

The right accommodation 
available to young people at point 
of crisis which will prevent them 
going into B&B accommodation. 

Audit Laura Fisher
01/04/2018

Closing the Loop on Improvement Actions 

Shropshire Children’s services are committed to the continuous improvement of practice within the service and utilise the Quality Assurance Framework to 
review practice on a regular basis, creating actions for improvement. As part of this we have an auditing framework which includes monthly child journey 
audits, regular thematic audits and an IRO/ICC dispute resolution process, looking at the whole picture of practice, the learning from which is shared with 
workers and managers, including learning from the service users whom we contact as part of the audit.



22 | P a g e

 In addition to the Quality Assurance Framework, the IMPACT service user feedback project aims to change the culture and approach to gathering service user’s 
views within children’s services. One of the activities of this project is a service user feedback and practice observation week twice a year, the findings of which 
we will utilise alongside that from child journey audits, to measure the impact of our action plan. 


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	6 Ofsted Action Plan
	Appendix A Draft Ofsted Action Plan (20-02-18)


